# CALS Governance Council Minutes February 16, 2021 9:00-10:00AM Zoom

Alan Grant called the meeting to order at 9:00am with a welcome to everyone.

Council members present via Zoom: Alan Grant, Sandra Gabbert, Chevon Thorpe, Maria Balota, Susan Sumner, Brandon Lester, Stephanie Brown, Mike Lambur, Ryan Stewart, Vernon Meacham, Chad Proudfoot, Susan Duncan, Ed Jones, Erin Ling, Cathy Sutphin, Patrick Hilt, Jennifer Jones, Jeremy Daubert, Saied Mostaghimi, Tom Thompson, John Galbraith, Steve Rideout, and Dave Winston

#### Approval of the Agenda:

A motion was made to adopt the agenda. The motion received a second and was approved.

#### **Approval of the Minutes**

A motion was made to approve the minutes. The motion received a second and was approved.

#### **New Business:**

CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Guidelines and Expectations was presented for first reading.

#### **Committee Reports:**

#### **Committee on Academic Program Policy:**

Jennifer Jones reported.

- CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Guidelines and Expectations discussion
  - Other college's materials reviewed for a base
  - Adapted and made changes
  - Sent to CALS leadership, department heads, professors of practice, and collegiate faculty members within CALS
  - O Draft version included at the end of the minutes with feedback from the abovementioned groups incorporated
  - Next step is to have feedback submitted from CALS Governance Council to enable the document to move forward
  - Susan Sumner thanked the committee and all those who provided feedback up to this point
  - Would like to have a vote at the next meeting

#### **CALS Curriculum Committee:**

Dave Winston reported.

- The 2020-2021 CALS Curriculum Committee meets on first Thursdays at 1:30 PM.
  - Those wishing to submit proposals should do so at least one week in advance of the next committee meeting.
  - O Meeting dates for the remainder of the academic year are March 4 and April 1.
- University level approved courses
  - o DASC 3474 Dairy Information Systems (Revised)
  - O SPES 1004 First Year Seminar (New)
  - o Have been added to their respective course catalogs since the January update
- Current academic year to date, CALS new courses that have been approved at the university level and added to their respective catalogs
  - o Eight new undergraduate courses,
  - o eight new graduate courses,
  - o one revised undergraduate course,
  - o three revised graduate courses, and
  - o one new undergraduate Pathways course that have been approved
- Majors and degrees
  - O Commission on Undergraduate Studies and Policies approved the following:
    - New major, Ecological Restoration, in Bachelor of Science in Environmental Science.
    - New degree, Bachelor of Science in Plant Science with new majors:
      - Crop and Soil Sciences, Landscape Design and Turfgrass Science, Plant Science, and Environmental Horticulture;
      - Discontinuing the degrees Bachelor of Science in Crop and Soil
         Environmental Sciences and Bachelor of Science in Horticulture. These
         resolutions have now been forwarded for review at University Council.

#### **Committee on Extension and Research Program Policy:**

No report.

New chair needed as Mike Lambur is retiring

#### **Committee on International Program Policy:**

Tom Thompson reported.

- Committee met 2-3 weeks ago
- Tom Thompson's report will include this committee's updates

#### **CALS Library Update:**

No report.

#### **CALS Diversity Council:**

Erin Ling and Chevon Thorpe reported.

- Molly Wilson has organized a "Women in CALS" panel discussion
  - O Tuesday, March 9<sup>th</sup> at 7pm via Zoom
  - Sponsored by CALS Diversity Council, CALS Academic Programs, and CALS Alumni Organization
- Implementing new council structure
  - O Currently rewriting the by-laws
  - o End of semester, sending invitations to join the council

#### **Updates from Dean and Associate Deans:**

#### **Academic Programs**

Susan Sumner reported.

- CALS leads in face-to-face courses
- One spring break day per month instead of a full week
- Positive cases are up
- Commencement no word yet but is expected soon

#### **CALS International Programs (CALS Global)**

Tom Thompson reported.

- The 2020 GAP Report "Productivity in a time of pandemics" was successfully launched in October 2020 via a pre-recorded video, translated into four languages, and shown to a worldwide audience. You can view the video and download the Report on the CALS Global website.
- CALS Global has a completely redesigned website—please visit at https://www.cals.vt.edu/global.html
- Opportunities for faculty available on the website:
  - Open call through June 30 for applications for travel grants, mini-grants, and course globalization grants.
  - Accepting applications for the 2021 GAP Scholar through March 1
  - O Tom Archibald (ALCE) and Catherine Larochelle (AAEC) were named as 2021 "CALS Global Faculty Scholars". Tom's project will be in Senegal and Catherine's in Ecuador.
- The 2021 Global Opportunity Initiative cohort of faculty were just named.
  - O CALS faculty include Anubhab Gupta (AAEC), John Ignosh (BSE), Enette Larson-Meyer (HNFE), Julie Shortridge (BSE), Wade Thomason (SPES), Karen Vines (ALCE), and Stella Volpe (HNFE).
  - Three faculty from the College of Veterinary Medicine are also part of the cohort.

• The 2021 GOI will be an all-virtual experience in partnership with Egerton University in Kenya, with faculty from several universities in East Africa participating.

#### ■ Study Abroad:

- All study abroad to CDC or State Department level three or four countries must be approved by the Global Travel Oversight Committee, detailing, among other things, COVID-19 mitigation/response plans for programs.
- O All CALS faculty-led study abroad and exchange programs planned for this academic year have been cancelled. Most recently, the Ecuador Environmental Science, Health, and Culture course and the TUM Practical and Theoretical Brewing exchange planned for this summer have been cancelled. Ecuador will next be offered Winter 2022 and TUM Summer 2022. The conditions and/or restrictions simply prevent continued planning and advertisement.
- O The CALS GEAC deadline was 2/15. We received four reapprovals:
  - Costa Rica: An exploration of health, community, and yoga in a Blue Zone of Costa Rica (first offering, approved last year)
  - Senegal: Youth and Development in Senegal (first offering, approved last year)
  - Ecuador: Environmental Science, Health, and CultureGermany and Australia:
     Introduction to the German Sport Horse Industry
- We continue to communicate updates through CALS-PALS, including virtual internship opportunities.
- o For-credit international internships must register with GEO.

#### ■ Extension:

- The VCE International Programs Strategic Working Group meets every other month to provide a forum for updates and discussion on Extension-related international opportunities. This is our most regular engagement with CIRED, as well.
- 4-H agents are contributing virtually to the JEA 4-H project, including filming online modules.

#### Research

Saied Mostaghimi reported.

- Tidewater AREC
  - O Dr. David Langston is stepping down as the director
  - O Dr. Hunter Frame will be the interim
  - o Dr. Susan Duncan, chairing search committee
- Strategic Planning
  - Call for proposals
- Seafood AREC
  - Good progress on the new building
  - End of year hopes for completion
- New center
  - O CAIA Center for Advanced Innovation in Agriculture

- o Dr. Susan Duncan, director
- Website up
- George Washington Carver Program
  - O Dr. Randy Grayson retiring in March 2021
  - o Dr. Chevon Thorpe will be the new program director

#### **Virginia Cooperative Extension**

Ed Jones reported.

- Virtual Winter Conference
  - o Panel with President Sands and VSU President Abdula
- Evening with 4-H
  - Second event
  - Celebration of Color winners
  - o Recognized John Dooley as lifelong contributor
    - He began with the northern VA 4-H camp
- Invest in 4-H
  - Co-chaired by John Rocovich and incoming president of the VT Foundation, Elizabeth McClanahan
  - o \$1 million gift by Dominion Energy
  - o \$4 million goal
- VT and VSU Extension
  - O Meet twice per week

#### <u>Dean</u>

Alan Grant reported.

- Budget
  - General Assembly is in session
  - O Positive news regarding revenue projections for the state
  - Submitted budget amendments for Agency 229
    - Funding equipment, technology, infrastructure, and personnel
- Hiring
  - Hiring freeze during pandemic
  - Hiring positions in critical areas were approved during this time
  - Moving forward with some tenure-track faculty positions
    - Some of these searches were in process when the freeze started
  - Cluster faculty positions
    - SmartFarm cluster which supports the new center, CAIA
    - Positive start on filling these positions
      - Two phases
        - O Phase I has 8 positions
          - 6 of those have been filled, 2 on hold
        - O Phase II has 5 positions

#### On hold

- Have hired 10 new tenure-track faculty to date, and a new collegiate faculty since fall
   2019
  - Are behind in hiring due to the pandemic
- O Congratulations to Dr. Chevon Thorpe, new assistant dean of Inclusion, Diversity and Equality
- O Welcome to Dr. Stella Volpe, new department head of HNFE
  - From Drexel University
  - VT alum

#### **Announcements**

Ryan Stewart reported for CALSFA

- Faculty Senate has changed by-laws to allow all college faculty associations to have a representative on the Faculty Senate
  - CALSFA officers typically start in the secretary position and then matriculate through various positions (ultimately to the past president position)
  - CALSFA executive committee proposed the past president should serve in this new position in Faculty Senate

Meeting was adjourned 😂

Crystal Tawney, Recorder

## College of Agriculture and Life Science (CALS) Expectations and Guidelines for Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotions

Promotion to a higher rank is granted to faculty members who have demonstrated excellence and innovation in instructional responsibilities and who show significant evidence of related professional growth and development. This includes an appropriate level of recognition through publication, professional activities, and/or service at the unit, college, university, and/or national levels. Consideration for promotion may be requested by the faculty member or recommended by the unit.

#### Overview of the Promotion Process

An application for promotion receives up to five independent reviews, in the order shown:

- Unit Committee (see "Unit Committee" on page 3 of this document)
- Unit Head
- CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee
- Dean of the College of Agriculture and Life Sciences
- Provost

Any application that receives a positive recommendation from either or both the appropriate unit committee (see "Unit Committee" on page 3 of this document) or the unit head; continues to the college level. An application that receives a positive recommendation from either or both the dean and the Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee continues to the provost. The provost makes the final decision on applications reaching the final level.

An applicant is provided significant, detailed written feedback if failing to advance at either the unit or college level. Applications that fail at the unit level can be appealed, but only after having been turned down in at least two separate years (details for appeals can be found in the Faculty Handbook). A negative decision at the college provost level is final and cannot be appealed.

As stated in the Faculty Handbook, a negative recommendation on a promotion request need not translate into termination of employment. Indeed, a faculty member in the Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice series may remain at their current rank as long as their performance warrants continued employment and serves unit needs. In CALS, promotion and retention decisions are made separately, and being turned down for promotion does not preclude reapplying in a future year.

#### **Specifics of the Promotion Process**

The Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice promotion process proceeds according to a college-issued timeline, available as the last page of this document.

Contract lengths for Collegiate Faculty are three, five, and seven years respectively for appointments at the assistant, associate, and full levels. Ordinarily, Collegiate Faculty members within CALS will not be considered for promotion any earlier than in the third year of their employment at their current rank.

A candidate for promotion prepares a dossier describing their performance and accomplishments and submits this to the unit committee. This dossier is the document on which the request for promotion is judged at each of the five steps of the process. The culmination of each step is a letter containing a recommendation for or against promotion. As with other faculty promotion processes at Virginia Tech, the format for the dossier will be prescribed by the provost. Candidates are referred to the provost's webpage (provost.vt.edu/faculty\_affairs/promotion\_tenure.html) for the Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice promotion dossier template available on that page. The College of Agriculture and Life Sciences requires that full SPOT reports from courses taught by a candidate be included, to cover the length of the candidate's instructional career at Virginia Tech up to the application for promotion, though not to exceed five years immediately preceding the application for promotion. Each collegiate faculty promotion dossier must also include a unit committee and head letter and content on the faculty member's peer review experience and/or contributions.

The unit committee reviews the dossier of each candidate and prepares a letter stating its recommendation, for or against for promotion. This letter should contain a thorough summary of the candidate's qualifications for promotion, reflecting the evaluation of the credentials by the committee with an informative, individualized assessment of the candidate's activities and contributions. In the case of a mixed vote, a minority report may be written. In the case of a negative vote, the letter will explain the basis for the negative recommendation.

The unit head independently evaluates each dossier and the recommendation of the unit committee. Particulars of the candidate's professional assignment should be provided, including the percentage of that assignment to teaching, scholarly activities, service, and outreach. The unit head's letter need not repeat the information in the committee's letter, but must address the candidate's performance relative to the unit's expectations for performance in the Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice series, explaining those expectations and the procedures by which the candidate was evaluated. If the head's recommendation is not in agreement with the committee's, this should be more fully explained and justified. If the head concurs with a negative recommendation from the committee, then the process is ended and

the dossier does not move on to the college level; the head provides written feedback to the candidate should this outcome occur.

The CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee will prepare a letter about each candidate whose application reaches the college level, stating its recommendation for or against promotion. Letters from the Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee should be detailed but succinct, as they need not repeat material well summarized at the unit level. In the case of a negative vote, the committee will explain the basis for the negative recommendation. The dean independently evaluates each dossier and the recommendations of the committee. The statement from the dean is an informative assessment of the candidate's accomplishments from the perspective of the college and the dean. The dean should provide a summary of the candidate's contributions to the unit, college, and university goals. If the dean concurs with a negative recommendation from the committee, then the process is ended; the dean provides written feedback to the candidate should this outcome occur. Otherwise, the dean writes a letter with their recommendation and forwards the dossier to the provost. If the dean does not concur with the CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee recommendation, the letter will explain the basis for the lack of concurrence. Notifications about collegiate faculty promotion decisions are made by the provost according to a published calendar.

#### **Unit Committee**

Composition of the unit collegiate faculty promotion committee, and its procedures, are determined by the unit within the bounds set by the provost and the faculty handbook (Sections 5.2.4 and 5.2.4.1).

#### **CALS Committee**

The CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee reviews both Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice applications for promotion. The long-term goal is for this committee to be composed of faculty at the associate or professor level in the Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice ranks. Committee members are nominated by CALS units and appointed by the dean. The dean or their designee, serves as a non-voting member and committee chair. Minimum committee size will be five voting members. A faculty member serving on both the unit committee and the CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee may vote at only one of these levels as chosen by the committee member.

**Expectations for the Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice Series** 

- Quality instruction as evidenced by such measures as student responses to supplemental questions, activities in non-classroom settings, peer reviews, and Student Perception of Teaching (SPOT) evaluations.
- Participation in unit activities as related to programs of instruction, curricular development, and their relationships and integration with other programs at the university. Development of leadership within the unit on curricular issues and on evolving goals of the unit's instructional mission.
- Pedagogical innovation in terms of course development and/or methods of instructional delivery. Promoting teaching excellence within the unit.
- Proficiency at understanding and evaluating research that applies to their field and translating it to classroom settings.
- Research and professional development in alignment with the unit's expectations for
  the faculty member's appointment as delivered to the employee in writing. The
  research program may include scholarship on teaching and learning, and/or on
  disciplinary topics, and must produce findings that are presented in professional venues
  including conferences and journal publications. There is, however, no expectation of a
  research program so extensive as to be appropriate for a tenure-track faculty
  appointment.
- Graduate advisory committee service as the committee chair and/or a committee member according to the guidelines of the specific unit and the graduate school.
- Service at the unit, college, and university level.
- Adherence to the Virginia Tech Principles of Ethical Behavior and the Virginia Tech Principles of Community, as described in section 2.7 of the Faculty Handbook.

Where appropriate to their assignment, Collegiate Faculty or Professors of Practice may interact with graduate students and interns, serve on graduate committees, and chair graduate advisory committees with the approval of the academic unit and the graduate school. They may also be expected to serve on unit, college, or university committees as contributing members of their units and the broader university community.

A faculty member in the Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice series should work with their unit head to clarify and detail the expectations of their position within the guidelines provided by this document. This series allows for flexibility of the emphasis placed on the various performance categories, so that positions may best be crafted to serve unit needs. It is the joint responsibility of the unit head and the faculty member to ensure that written expectations are sufficiently clear.

Criteria for Promotion to Collegiate Associate Professor or Associate Professor of Practice

Credentials for appointment or promotion to this rank must document a record of significant instructional experience with sustained excellence and accomplishments relevant to the field and type of assignment. The strongest cases will show a pattern of these activities throughout the promotion period:

- Excellent instruction, evidenced in the dossier by reference to such items as student responses to supplemental questions, activities in a non-classroom setting, peer reviews, and SPOT evaluations.
- Professional development contributions to a growing regional or national reputation, to include participation in professional conferences and publications in venues deemed appropriate for their assignment by their unit.
- Course or curricular development or development of new pedagogies. This should include (but is not limited to) contributions to textbooks or online teaching materials available to others beyond the faculty member's own classes; increasing the availability and relevance of undergraduate research experiences; introduction of active learning or flipped classroom models to courses previously employing older formats; and developing and/or teaching new courses.
- Substantial contributions to the unit's instructional program. This should include (but is not limited to) advising or mentoring students; for example, academic advising of undergraduate and graduate students, peer mentoring, or advising student organizations.
- Sustained service to the unit, college, and university
- Adherence to the Virginia Tech Principles of Ethical Behavior and the Virginia Tech Principles of Community, as described in section 2.7 of the Faculty Handbook.

#### **Criteria for Promotion to Collegiate Professor or Professor of Practice**

Collegiate Professor or Professor of Practice is the capstone rank in this promotion series and appointment to this rank requires exemplary performance across the full range of Collegiate Faculty or Professor of Practice expectations. Promotion to this rank requires distinguished professional achievement, and regional, national, or international prominence in the field. Credentials must document a record of significant and impactful instructional experience with continued excellence. There should be significant evidence of scholarly accomplishments and recognition relevant to the field and assignment and of ongoing, valuable service within and external to the university.

• Exemplary instruction, evidenced in the dossier by reference to such items as student responses to supplemental questions, activities in a non-classroom setting, peer reviews, and SPOT evaluations.

- Professional development contributions to a growing national or international reputation, to include participation in professional conferences and publications in venues deemed appropriate for their assignment by their unit.
- Continued course or curricular development or development of new pedagogies. This
  should include (but is not limited to) contributions to textbooks or online teaching
  materials available to others beyond the faculty member's own classes; increasing the
  availability and relevance of undergraduate research experiences; introduction of active
  learning or flipped classroom models to courses previously employing older formats;
  and developing and/or teaching new courses.
- Sustained and significant contributions to the unit's instructional program. This should include (but is not limited to) advising or mentoring students; for example, academic advising of undergraduate and graduate students, peer mentoring, or advising student organizations.
- Sustained and significant service to the unit, college, and university.
- Adherence to the Virginia Tech Principles of Ethical Behavior and the Virginia Tech Principles of Community, as described in section 2.7 of the Faculty Handbook.

### College of Agriculture and Life Sciences Promotion Timetable-Collegiate Professor and Professor of Practice Series

#### April – May

 Units determine faculty members who will be considered for promotion in either the Collegiate Faculty orProfessor of Practice series.

#### October

• Unit deliberations and vote; evaluation by the unit head; dossiers for candidates going forward to the college are completed.

#### **Late November**

• Promotion dossiers submitted electronically to College of Agriculture and LIfe Sciences.

#### Mid January

 CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee meeting to review dossiers and issue recommendations.

#### Mid February

• Letters from CALS Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice Promotion Committee, evaluating candidates, are finalized and submitted to the dean.

#### **Late February**

- College and unit staff members complete the final dossiers for all Collegiate Faculty and Professor of Practice candidates going forward to the University Committee.
- Final dossiers submitted to the Provost's Office.